INDIVIDUAL PSYCHOTHERAPY OUTCOME AND PROCESS RESEARCH: Challenges Leading to Greater Turmoil or a Positive Transition?

S. Mark Kopta

Department of Psychology, University of Evansville, Evansville, Indiana 47722; e-mail: mk35@evansville.edu

Robert J. Lueger and Stephen M. Saunders

Department of Psychology, Marquette University, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201; e-mail: 6282LUEGERR@marquette.edu and saunderss@vms.csd.mu.edu

Kenneth I. Howard

Department of Psychology, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois 60208; e-mail: k-howard@nwu.edu

KEY WORDS: psychological treatments, outcomes, managed mental health care, mental disorder, empirically supported psychotherapies

ABSTRACT

Psychotherapy is facing challenges that relate to the emergence of managed health care, the possibility of a national health care system, and advances in biological psychiatry. These situations have created pressure to achieve a more accurate assessment of psychotherapeutic effectiveness. Psychotherapy has been proven to be generally effective; however, there is uncertainty as to why. The field is currently experiencing apparent turmoil in three areas: (*a*) theory development for psychotherapeutic effectiveness, (*b*) research design, and (*c*) treatment technique. This chapter reviews the dynamics within each of the areas and highlights the progress made in treating mental disorders. We conclude that recent advances in research design may provide a transition that will bring psychotherapy closer to becoming a unified paradigm with an acceptable theory of effectiveness.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	442
THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: THEORY DEVELOPMENT FOR	
EFFECTIVENESS	443
Outcome Research	443
Process Research	447
THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: RESEARCH DESIGN	449
Consumer Reports Survey	450
Randomized Clinical Trials	450
Effectiveness Studies	451
	452
A Positive Transition	452
THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: TREATMENT TECHNIQUE	453
Psychotherapy and Pharmacotherapy	454
Specific Theoretical Orientations Versus Integration	455
PROGRESS IN TREATING THE DIFFERENT DISORDERS	455
Depression	456
Anxiety Disorders	457
8	459
Substance Abuse	460
Personality Disorders	461
Serious Mental Illness	461
CLOSING COMMENTS	461

INTRODUCTION

The field of psychotherapy research has faced many new challenges during its brief life. The first challenge was the publication of Eysenck's (1952) review of 24 studies which concluded that psychotherapy is no more effective with neurotics than is spontaneous remission. His article stimulated years of controversy among academics and clinicians about the effectiveness of psychotherapy. It also inspired a successful, directed effort by researchers to confirm empirically that psychotherapy generally produces beneficial effects (e.g. Elkin et al 1989, Lambert & Bergin 1994, Lipsey & Wilson 1993, McNeilly & Howard 1991, Smith & Glass 1977).

The emergence of managed health care, the looming possibility of a national health care system, and recent advances in biological psychiatry pose new challenges for the field of psychotherapy. These events have created pressure for more accurate assessment of psychotherapeutic effectiveness. For example, many (e.g. Barlow 1994, Broskowski 1995) believe that the effectiveness of specific psychological treatments must be empirically validated to justify reimbursement by insurance and managed care companies and by government agencies that are demanding more accountability.

In this chapter we review the progress made from 1989 through early 1998 in improving the assessment of psychotherapy research. In preparing this re-

view we were motivated by a realization that the psychotherapy research field is beginning to be in a position to advance (or rescue?) the professional and economic interests of psychotherapy practice. In the past, the gap between psychotherapy research and clinical practice has been wide (e.g. Goldfried & Wolfe 1996, Morrow-Bradley & Elliott 1986), with clinicians seeing little value in research which was perhaps too often performed for scholarly interest rather than for clinical application. At present, however, the focus of research is increasingly on justifying psychotherapy as a legitimate treatment and explaining how psychotherapy alleviates psychological suffering. Within this movement, an awareness exists that research findings must become more generalizable to clinical practice (e.g. Beutler et al 1996, Campbell 1996, Fensterheim & Raw 1997, Goldfried & Wolfe 1996, Strupp 1997).

Hundreds of studies have shown that psychotherapy works better than nothing. What is not so clear is whether psychotherapy works for reasons specified by theory.

Unfortunately, instead of giving the appearance of developing a more unified paradigm, psychotherapy is experiencing a period of conceptual-theoretical turmoil. More than ever, cherished "truths" as well as traditional research methodologies are being questioned. Three areas of apparent turmoil are (*a*) theory development for psychotherapeutic effectiveness, (*b*) research design, and (*c*) treatment techniques. This chapter reviews the dynamics within each of these areas and highlights the progress made in treatments for specific clinical disorders.

Contemporary developments in the psychotherapy research field have been well summarized by Bergin & Garfield (1994a). Also, *Psychotherapy Research*, the official quarterly journal of the Society for Psychotherapy Research (SPR), was introduced in 1991 as a response to the dramatic interest in and expansion of psychotherapy research over the past few years. This growth has greatly increased membership in SPR as well as the quantity and quality of research presented at its meetings and in the literature.

THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: THEORY DEVELOPMENT FOR EFFECTIVENESS

Outcome Research

UNIQUE INGREDIENTS VERSUS COMMON INGREDIENTS AND THE DODO BIRD CONTROVERSY A primary issue for outcome researchers has been whether the different psychotherapies each contain unique active ingredients, as medications are purported to do, or whether a set of common factors accounts for psychotherapy's benefits. The traditionally accepted unique-ingredients theory implies that different psychotherapies produce different specific effects for different types of patients. However, researchers have repeatedly failed to find convincing evidence that different psychotherapies are differentially effective. Meta-analyses which statistically combine and compare the effect sizes of treatment, placebo, and control groups—continually report no differences among different types of therapies (e.g. Smith & Glass 1977, Grissom 1996, Wampold et al 1997). Occasionally, when differences are found, they disappear after methodological confounds are taken into account; for example, Robinson et al (1990) discovered that researcher allegiance influenced the superiority of some treatment classes over others for depressed patients.

The aforementioned dilemma (that the different psychotherapies produce equivalent outcomes) has been labeled the "dodo bird verdict" (Luborsky et al 1975) after the dodo bird in *Alice in Wonderland* who proclaimed, "Everybody has won and all must have prizes." Exactly what the dodo effect means has been open to a variety of explanations. It seems clear though that no one believes all psychotherapies are equally effective for all disorders. Giles' edited book, *Handbook of Effective Psychotherapy* (1993), presents several experts' attempts to solve the equivalence paradox and concludes with a critique of their positions by Elliott et al (1993), who assert that researchers should focus on the specific effects of specific psychotherapies on specific types of patients.

Among those who expect treatment differences, the consensus is that the lack of evidence is caused by faulty design strategies. The most frequent design criticism of comparative studies is that they are not built to detect interaction effects with variables other than type of treatment; instead, they focus on outcomes among treatments alone, omitting the investigation of such moderating variables as setting, patient characteristics, and therapist skill. As one example of the influence of moderating variables, variance attributable to therapist differences has been found to be greater than variance attributed to treatment differences (e.g. Crits-Christoph et al 1991, Crits-Christoph & Mintz 1991). Wampold's analogy (1997) cleverly summarizes the issue of comparing different psychotherapies without considering the moderating influence of therapist skill and other factors:

We suspect that a great deal of the variance in success of (basketball) teams is due to the players' ability, institutional support, and motivation and very little is due to whether the teams play man-to-man defense or zone defense. If the goal is to identify the most important factors related to winning records so coaches could build the best teams possible, it would make little sense to arrange studies that examine the type of defense used by homogenizing players' abilities, institutional support, and so forth. Why then are we trying to homogenize therapy and therapists, when we know that these very variables contribute to much variance in outcomes, so that we can examine differences between treatments, when treatment differences historically have accounted for so little variance? (p. 34) Still the task of empirically assessing the specific psychotherapies to cover all the possible influential interactions is a daunting one. Beutler (1991) presents a schema indicating that, to evaluate all relevant differences among treatment types, about 1.5 million interactions between potentially important patient, therapist, and therapy variables would have to be studied.

Some authors assert that, even if the different psychotherapies are generally equivalent in effectiveness, they still have value as legitimate treatments for psychological disorders. Concluding from one of the most sophisticated metaanalyses to date, Wampold et al (1997) argue that psychotherapy equivalence is a reality and that the active-ingredients model borrowed from medicine is not a useful analogy. Howard et al (1997) also do not rule out the possibility of treatment equivalence. However, they accept the medication analogy. They note that equivalent psychotherapies can be viewed like equivalent drugs such as antibiotics, which affect patients differently depending on the clinical characteristics and responsiveness of the patient.

Psychotherapy equivalence also suggests that common beneficial ingredients among the different treatments are mostly or completely responsible for the similar outcomes. Providing a list of 30 (e.g. catharsis, therapeutic alliance, rationale, and cognitive learning), Lambert & Bergin (1994) mention that these common factors are active ingredients shared by a variety of psychotherapies. Some writers consider factors common to different forms of psychotherapy to be sufficient and necessary (e.g. Frank & Frank 1991, Patterson 1984), whereas others (e.g. Crits-Christoph 1997, Garfield 1991) view them as playing a substantial role in patient improvement but often in conjunction with unique ingredients. Explaining psychotherapeutic effects on the basis of common ingredients begs the question of how we then distinguish psychotherapy from other interventions, such as pastoral counseling or psychic advising. Furthermore, accepting the common-ingredients theory in its entirety would discourage theory development that could lead to new, more effective treatments. Still, the search for unique effective ingredients has thus far been unsuccessful. For instance, although attempts have been made, no one has yet validated the hypothesized unique active ingredients of cognitive therapy for depression (Jacobson et al 1996).

IDENTIFYING EMPIRICALLY SUPPORTED THERAPIES The increased momentum to empirically validate the different psychotherapeutic approaches is a response to political and economic forces as well as to the growth of biological psychiatry. This momentum has resulted in the establishment of the American Psychological Association Task Force on Promotion and Dissemination of Psychological Procedures (American Psychological Association Task Force, 1995). Its mission has been to identify a set of criteria that characterize effective treatments and to determine which of 400-plus therapies satisfy these criteria. Beutler (1998) has reviewed the circumstances leading to the focus on identifying empirically supported therapies as well as the creation of the task force. Briefly, he listed the following events as influential: (*a*) courts and legislative bodies are moving in the direction of defining without reference to empirical findings the types of psychotherapies that can be practiced and reimbursed; (*b*) managed health care programs are shifting from cost to empirical validation as the criterion for reimbursement; (*c*) medical and primary-care organizations have already established treatment guidelines that give priority to drug treatments over psychotherapy, e.g. the practice guidelines of the American Psychiatric Association (1993) and the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research publication *Depression in Primary Care Guidelines* (1993).

The task force's efficacy criteria were adapted from those used by the US Food and Drug Administration. Three categories of treatment efficacy were used to identify treatments as follows: 22 "well-established" treatments, 7 "probably efficacious" treatments, and the remainder "experimental" treatments (those not qualifying for at least "probably efficacious" rating); efficacious and probably efficacious treatments were identified for 21 syndromes listed in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV* (DSM-IV) of the American Psychiatric Association (1994). Behavioral treatments dominated the two efficacious categories. An update in 1996 added 27 more treatments to the two categories with all but 5 being behavioral. The committee producing these lists has asserted that the lists are incomplete, should not be used by third-party payers to make reimbursement decisions, and are not meant to replace clinical judgment in recommending the best treatment for patients.

Not surprisingly, reactions to the guidelines and to the general concept of empirically supported treatments have been mixed. Criticisms include the following: (*a*) empirical validation strategies reinforce the inappropriate "medicalization" of psychotherapy (Goldfried & Wolfe 1998, Wampold et al 1997); (*b*) omitting quasi-experimental studies, the task force criteria require only randomized clinical trials, which do not represent psychotherapy as practiced in the field or require a large number of single case design studies (Beutler 1998, Goldfried & Wolfe 1998); (*c*) the DSM-IV standard for categorizing patient types has problems with reliability as well as validity and provides patient categories that are too heterogeneous (Garfield 1996, Goldfried & Wolfe 1998); and (*d*) most psychotherapies used in real clinical settings are not on the validation list (e.g. eclectic, long-term psychodynamic therapies; Seligman 1995).

Supporters of the effort to identify empirically validated therapies often make their case by asking hypothetically, "What if we don't move in this direction?" For example, Beutler (1998) asserts that psychotherapy's scientific base would be abandoned, likely resulting in a loss of credibility with policymak-

ers, other health care professionals, and the public. Barlow (1996) warns that if the profession does not promote evidence of psychotherapeutic effectiveness, the existence of psychotherapy in the health care system will be threatened. Emphasizing that practice guidelines that identify empirically supported treatments "are here to stay" (p. 290), Nathan (1998) notes their potential to enhance psychotherapeutic effectiveness as well as strengthen treatment accountability. In a special volume of Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, a majority of contributors (e.g. Barlow 1996, Chambless 1996, Crits-Christoph 1996, Nathan 1996, Wilson 1996) agreed that despite the current limitations on identifying empirically supported therapies, the endeavor-including the task force's efforts-is worthwhile and in the best interests of the psychotherapy profession. In his article in that volume, Kazdin (1996) provides an accurate perspective on this issue: "By and large, there is general agreement that validated treatments are worthwhile and important, but agreement breaks down after that in deciding how to go about identifying and selecting these treatments" (p. 16).

Process Research

Process research attempts to identify the active ingredients of psychotherapy and the mechanisms of change. The rationale of this process research is that by increasing the understanding of human change processes, greater control can be obtained in the effective design and delivery of therapeutic interventions. The study of process variables and process-outcome relationships has recently been overshadowed by the much stronger focus on outcomes assessment.

The fourth edition of the *Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change* (Bergin & Garfield 1994a) features the third (Orlinsky et al 1994) in a series of comprehensive chapters that have reviewed psychotherapy processoutcome studies. In their chapter, Orlinsky et al cite five process variables that have consistently demonstrated robust relationships with outcome in the research literature: (*a*) overall quality of the therapeutic relationship, (*b*) therapist skill, (*c*) patient cooperation versus resistance, (*d*) patient openness versus defensiveness, and (*e*) treatment duration.

Other compilations of research findings have challenged traditionally accepted assumptions and models about process-outcome relationships. One of the most comprehensive of these is the volume by Russell (1994), which covers recent research and future directions of process research. Several of the book's chapters are referenced later in the review.

LINKING PROCESS TO OUTCOME: THE DRUG METAPHOR AND ALTERNATIVES Despite the wealth of data on process-outcome relationships, several authors have noted that the number of conclusions that can be drawn from processoutcome studies is disappointing (cf Shapiro et al 1994b). In reviewing methods of linking processes and outcomes, Lambert & Hill (1994) identified three approaches: (*a*) correlating the frequency or proportion of an occurrence of a process variable with an outcome measure, (*b*) using sequential analyses to study the immediate effects (minioutcomes) of process variables, and (*c*) considering longer patterns of process variables.

Stiles & Shapiro (1994) argued that the reason for the poor yield of processoutcome studies is that the primary research design is based on the drug metaphor, with its correlational approach to linking process and outcome at the end of therapy. Specifically, the drug metaphor operates from the "more-is-better" assumption that process variables represent the active ingredients of psychotherapy. In their criticism of the drug metaphor, Stiles & Shapiro (1994) asserted that therapists vary their intervention techniques based on feedback from and about the client, giving more of an ingredient when they perceive greater need on the part of the client. However, these variations can result in near-zero correlations when greater amounts are given to clients with poorer as well as to clients with better outcomes. Stiles (1996) concluded that the moreis-better assumption is appropriate only when the clients are not already getting enough of a critical ingredient; he also suggested that process research adopt developmental models or empirical approaches that do not rely on the correlational model to assess process-outcome relationships.

Greenberg & Newman (1996) edited a special section of the *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* devoted to new directions in the psychotherapy change process. Most of the studies that were included in this special section used the sequential approach to studying process-outcome relationships; they consisted of statistical analyses of various complexities, such as log-linear, path, and hierarchical linear modeling. The topics of the studies included the resolution of unfinished business, the resolution of ruptured therapeutic alliances, the contributions of generic model components to session outcomes, and the processes of cognitive therapy.

THE THERAPEUTIC ALLIANCE Advances in understanding the therapeutic alliance (the working relationship between patient and therapist) and its relationship to psychotherapy outcome have continued during the last decade of research. Horvath & Greenberg (1994) edited a book in which researchers from programs investigating the alliance presented a review and synthesis of their work. The contributors indicated that major advances include the following: (*a*) recognition of the central role of the alliance in successful therapies, (*b*) more complete and precise explication and operationalization of the construct, (*c*) increased attention to pretreatment and process variables that promote a positive alliance, and (*d*) greater understanding of the changing nature and purpose of the alliance over the course of treatment, as well as of alliance ruptures.

Randomized clinical trials repeatedly find that a positive alliance is one of the best predictors of outcome. For example, Krupnick and associates (1996) analyzed data from the large-scale National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program that compared treatments for depression; their analysis indicated that the therapeutic alliance was predictive of treatment success for all conditions. In another large study of diverse therapies for alcoholism, the alliance was also significantly predictive of success (Connors et al 1997).

The positive association between scores on measures of early treatment alliance and outcome is found repeatedly (Horvath & Symonds 1991), despite the variety of alliance conceptualizations and instruments used to measure it (Horvath & Greenberg 1994). Different programs of research have emphasized different aspects of the alliance. For example, Luborsky (1994) conceptualized the alliance from the psychoanalytic perspective and measured it as two parts: the patient experiencing the therapist as helpful and the patient sensing that therapy is a collaborative effort. In contrast, Bordin (1994) emphasized the pan-theoretical nature of the alliance, arguing that—regardless of the modality—the alliance always involves agreement on tasks and goals as well as a sense of compatibility or bonding. This latter viewpoint has been confirmed in the Working Alliance Inventory (Horvath 1994). Both Luborsky's and Bordin's programs have consistently found a predictive association between alliance and outcome.

Studies of the predictors of the development of a positive alliance have emphasized both pretreatment and in-treatment process variables. The research suggests that clients with healthy object relations (Piper et al 1991), generally satisfying social relationships, and lack of hostility or dominance in their interpersonal attitudes (e.g. Muran et al 1994) are prone to develop positive alliances. As noted earlier, in a study comparing the effectiveness of different therapies for depression (i.e. cognitive, interpersonal, and medication), the presence of a therapeutic alliance was a predictor of a favorable outcome for each treatment (Krupnick et al 1996).

THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: RESEARCH DESIGN

Traditionally held in the highest esteem, the randomized clinical trial (RCT) randomly assigns members of a relatively homogeneous group of patients to different treatment conditions to control for potentially confounding independent variables. The RCT is concerned with empirical validation and thus focuses on internal validity. However, several investigators argue that this approach should be replaced by naturalistic designs, which can provide results more applicable to real clinical practice, therefore strengthening external validity.

450 KOPTA ET AL

Consumer Reports Survey

Consumer Reports magazine (CR; 1995) reported that most of the 2900 treated readers responding to its survey about whether psychotherapy helps received benefits from psychotherapy and were satisfied with the treatment they received. Among the other findings were the following: (*a*) there were no differences in effectiveness between the different psychotherapy types, again confirming the dodo effect; (*b*) long-term psychotherapy produced more improvement than short-term therapy; and (*c*) medication plus psychotherapy contributed no more benefits than psychotherapy alone.

In his praise of the *CR* survey, Seligman (1995) asserted that the findings provide crucial public confirmation of psychotherapy's general effectiveness and value. Seligman's article triggered considerable criticism and debate in the professional community. The *American Psychologist* (October 1996) devoted an entire issue to the controversy. Some of the criticism was directed toward the *CR* design, including for example that no control group was used to rule out factors such as regression toward the mean (Mintz et al 1996), spontaneous remission, or the influences of simply talking to a friend (Hollon 1996, Jacobson & Christensen 1996); that only a small percentage (4%) of the original sample responded to the mental health survey (Brock et al 1996, Jacobson & Christensen 1996); and that outcome was assessed only from the patient's perspective (Strupp 1996). Seligman noted and defended many of the survey's flaws in his original article and later rebutted critics in the *American Psychologist* special issue (1996a,b). Seligman's (1996b) defense of the *CR* survey was perhaps best summarized by Seligman himself:

...none of the criticism I have seen is about what *CR* did but what they *might* have done with a great deal more money and time: a longitudinal study, using blind diagnosis, with a more representative sample of Americans, for example. But in the limits imposed by a cross-sectional survey of *CR*'s readership, this was first-rate journalism and creditable science as well. (p. 1086)

In his concluding comments, Seligman (1995) proposed an ideal survey design that includes a sufficiently large sample, pre- and postassessment methodology, and multidimensional outcome measures.

Randomized Clinical Trials

Additional controversy over Seligman's (1995) article relates to his comments that the RCT—or, as he calls it, the efficacy study—is inadequate for empirically validating psychotherapy as practiced in real clinical settings. His argument, as well as those by others (e.g. Hollon 1996, Howard et al 1996), is that the efficacy study does not represent what happens in routine clinical practice. For example, unlike in the RCT, in actual clinical practice, manuals are not

used, patients rarely suffer from a singular disorder, numbers of sessions are not limited and predetermined, and patients are not randomly assigned to treatments. Howard et al (1995) add that, because of attrition, randomization seldom equates groups and rarely controls for patient-treatment interactions. Consequently, the randomized experiment usually becomes an inadequately designed quasi-experiment.

Some authors disagree. Jacobson & Christensen (1996) propose that despite their limitations, RCTs can provide clinically relevant effectiveness information by varying such factors as treatment length, therapist experience, whether a manual is used, and whether the therapy has a specific theoretical orientation or is eclectic. There is also disagreement about the value of information from RCTs for practicing psychotherapists (Persons & Silberschatz 1998). The consensus (e.g. Crits-Christoph 1997, Hollon 1996, Howard et al 1996, Seligman 1996a) is that RCTs provide valuable information about psychotherapeutic efficacy—for example, whether a type of psychotherapy can possibly work under certain conditions or the identification of a specific active ingredient—but that the degree to which such findings have value for actual clinical application is questionable.

Effectiveness Studies

Seligman and others (e.g. Howard et al 1996, Wampold 1997) recommend effectiveness studies for understanding how psychotherapy works in actual clinical settings; in this case, uncontrolled treatments are applied in selfcorrecting fashion to patients who typically suffer from multiple problems. Most effectiveness designs have emanated from the dosage model (Howard et al 1986). Dose-effect studies have confirmed a positive rate of effect (i.e. percentage of patients improved or normalized probability of improvement for one patient) across dose (i.e. number of sessions), with diminishing returns at higher dosage levels. Information obtained from these studies includes the following: (a) Psychological symptoms demonstrate different improvement rates across sessions that can be categorized into three response classes-acute distress (fastest), chronic distress (intermediate), and characterological (slowest) (Barkham et al 1996b, Kopta et al 1994); (b) for most clinical syndromes, 16 sessions provide at least a 50% chance for recovery to normal functioning (Barkham et al 1996b, Kadera et al 1996, Kopta et al 1994) and 26 (Kadera et al 1996) to 58 sessions (Kopta et al 1994) provide a 75% chance.

Dose-effect designs as well as RCT designs use grouped data to provide information about an "average" patient; however, patterns of improvement across sessions for specific patients have been shown to vary substantially from the general linear trend (Kadera et al 1996, Barkham et al 1993). At the clinical practive level, the therapist needs to know, "Is this patient's condition responding to the treatment that is being applied now?" Two groups of researchers (Howard et al 1995, Tingey et al 1996) have presented a single case application of the dosage model, the dose-outcome design. Here, the patient's progress toward reaching clinically significant improvement on some outcome measure is tracked across sessions. Going further, Howard et al (1996) developed patient profiling, which models the patient's expected course of improvement based on pretreatment clinical characteristics by using a hierarchical linear modeling strategy. The patient's progress (as indicated by the doseoutcome method) can now be compared with his/her expected progress, which serves as the outcome criterion for decision making. With these strategies, treatment can be adjusted if the patient's response to therapy moves in an undesirable direction.

Advances in Establishing Outcome Criteria

Clinical significance (Jacobson et al 1984)—that is, when a patient's functioning moves into the range of functioning for a sample of nonpatients or normals—is one of the most frequently used outcome criteria. Methodological extensions concerning the concept were proposed and discussed in a special section of *Psychotherapy Research* (Summer 1996). As one example, Tingey et al (1996) proposed a social validation method that included distinguishing different normative samples for clinically significant improvement: mildly symptomatic ("normal") and asymptomatic ("healthy").

Influenced by dosage model findings, Howard and his colleagues (1993) validated a phase model of improvement. They found that psychotherapeutic improvement occurs in three sequentially dependent phases: first, greater well-being is experienced, then symptoms remit, and finally life functioning improves.

The two dimensions for outcome—amount of benefit and phase—allow for the selection of specific outcome goals emanating from an empirical foundation. These goals can range from a return to normal well-being, requiring fewer treatment sessions, to the achievement of healthy life functioning, requiring considerably more sessions.

A Positive Transition

At first look, outcome research design appears to be experiencing turmoil similar to that of theory development and the empirical validation of treatments. However, even though some things appear to be declining (e.g. the universal acceptance for the RCT design and the importance of meta-analyses), something else may be emerging. More specifically, since the last *Annual Review of Psychology* chapter on psychotherapy (Goldfried et al 1990), designs are now available that can address the current vital issues of outcome research:

(a) which psychotherapies can work as specified by theory under controlled conditions; (b) which psychotherapies work as practiced in actual clinical settings; (c) to use Paul's (1967) famous question, "Which treatments are most effective for which patients under which conditions?" and (d) which psychotherapies work most efficiently.

For (*a*), creative RCTs have been used (e.g. Jacobson et al 1996) and proposed (Jacobson & Christensen 1996, Crits-Christoph 1997) that are able to distinguish unique active ingredients if indeed they exist. To answer (*b*), dose-effect studies can discover lawful outcome relationships across sessions for patients treated by different therapies as practiced in real clinical settings. Concurrently tracking control groups over time in these studies would allow for clinically relevant treatment effectiveness to be validated. More advanced survey methods such as those proposed by Seligman (1995) can also provide valuable information. Using dose-outcome designs to group individual patients by treatment type and similar dose-response patterns, researchers can answer Paul's patient-focused question in (*c*). These methods best address the complexity of the unique individual clinical situation.

Regarding (*d*)—with cost containment a concern for managed health care and biological psychiatry asserting that medication is faster, cheaper, and more effective than psychotherapy (e.g. Klein 1996)—outcome studies now need to distinguish which psychotherapies are more efficient in addition to which ones are simply effective. The best designs to do that are in the form of dose-effect strategies that provide an index of the rate of improvement for groups of patients and the use of growth curves rather than change scores.

In moving from demonstrating efficacy to proving effectiveness, Shadish and associates (1997) describe the technology transfer model, which can guide the dissemination of scientific findings into clinical practice. The model includes five phases that feature efficacy and effectiveness strategies: (*a*) pilot testing of a therapy for feasibility and risk; (*b*) evaluation in randomized clinical trials to see whether the therapy is efficacious under ideal conditions; (*c*) treatment of specific populations to measure the impact of the therapy with distinct, well-defined patients; (*d*) demonstration studies of the therapy being implemented and assessed in public health contexts; and (*e*) evaluation of the therapy as it is used in clinical practice.

THREE AREAS UNDER STRESS: TREATMENT TECHNIQUE

The need to clarify and improve treatment technique exists along two lines: (a) the relationship between psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy and (b) the conceptualization of psychotherapy integrationism and its role as a recognized type of psychological treatment.

Psychotherapy and Pharmacotherapy

Modern psychopharmacology continues to grow and evolve as evidenced by the increasing number of psychotropic medications that reach the marketplace, the expanding range of medications that are demonstrating efficacy in the treatment of mental disorder, and the increasing interest in psychopharmacological agents by the public. Today, a significant proportion of patients receive a combination of medication and psychotherapy. Consequently, an understanding of the comparative and interactive effects of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy is necessary to maximize effectiveness in mental health care.

Comparative studies of psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy have most aggressively investigated the treatments' effects on depression and panic disorder; usually psychotherapy is represented by cognitive behavior therapy. With regard to depression, the most cited results were reported by the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program (TDCRP; Elkin et al 1989). Two hundred fifty unipolar depressed patients at three sites were randomly assigned to one of four conditions: cognitive-behavior therapy (CBT), interpersonal therapy (IPT), imipramine (a tricyclic antidepressant) plus clinical management (IMI-CM), and pill placebo with clinical management (PLA-CM). Results (Elkin et al 1989, Gibbons et al 1993) were generally as follows: (a) all four conditions resulted in significant improvement; (b) neither form of psychotherapy was superior to the other; (c) the only significant treatment difference for all patients occurred between IMI-CM and PLA-CM; (d) for the more severe cases, IMI-CM and IPT produced more improvement than PLA-CM whereas CBT did not; and (e) IMI-CM generally produced more rapid effects than the other conditions.

A lively debate about the meaning and general applicability of the findings was featured in a special section of the *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* (February 1996). The authors, in reviewing additional research studies as well as TDCRP, provided a spectrum of conclusions regarding CBT. Jacobson & Hollon (1996) asserted, "We still consider CBT to be a viable alternative to pharmacotherapy in the treatment of even severe outpatient depression (the TDCRP notwithstanding)...." (p. 79). Elkin et al (1996) stated that a conclusion cannot be reached yet, whereas Klein (1996) argued that CBT is not an effective treatment.

In contrast to the situation for depression, there is evidence that panic disorder's response to psychotherapy is greater than its response to some medications. Clark et al (1994) found that CBT (cognitive therapy plus in vivo selfexposure) produced significantly greater remission rates (90%) than imipramine (55%), applied relaxation (50%), and a wait-list control experience (7%). Likewise, Klosko and his colleagues (1990) reported that there was more panic remission for CBT (87%) than either pill placebo (36%) or waitlist (30%) conditions; however, the same differences were not found when remission with Alprazolam (50%), a benzodiazepine, was compared with the placebo and wait-list conditions. In a review of research studying the combined effects of benzodiazepines and exposure-based cognitive therapy, Spiegel & Bruce (1997) concluded that there was no convincing evidence that this treatment combination improves outcomes. Whereas CBT has been shown as successful in preventing relapse (e.g. Ballenger 1993, Chambless & Gillis 1993), many patients relapse after drug discontinuation (Gorman 1994). However, methodological concerns regarding the validity of CBT's success have been raised, for example, investigator allegiance biasing results (Jacobson & Hollon 1996), panic remission as an insufficient measure of outcome (Shear & Maser 1994), and exclusion of a pill placebo condition (Klein 1996).

Specific Theoretical Orientations Versus Integration

There are three distinct threads that focus on the issue of treatment selection. First, specific theories of psychotherapy delineate unique active ingredients working through particular, sequenced interventions. This thread is tied to the desire to identify effective treatments and to the development of practice guidelines to be used in treatment selection. The second thread is the movement toward integration, in which the putative active ingredients for each theory are delineated and an attempt is made to bring these processes under a single, more generic, theoretical umbrella. The final thread is eclecticism, the use of theoretically different interventions with selection based on the needs of a particular patient.

An increasingly popular view is that the long-term dominance of the major psychotherapies has ended and that integrationism and eclecticism is now the direction for technical advances in treatment. Indeed, more therapists identify themselves as eclectic than any other individual orientation. At least five handbooks on psychotherapy integration have been published in the 1990s (e.g. Norcross & Goldfried 1992, Stricker & Gold 1993). There is also a national society (Society for the Exploration of Psychotherapy Integration) as well as associated journals (e.g. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*). Some attempts have been made to provide guidelines for the selection of interventions (e.g. Beutler & Clarkin 1990, Gaw & Beutler 1995). Still, many authors assert that the effectiveness of integrative approaches has not been proven (e.g. Lambert 1992, Norcross 1993), that there is little consensus about what integrationism is, and that progress in this area has stalled (Norcross 1997).

PROGRESS IN TREATING SPECIFIC DISORDERS

The efficacy of psychotherapy for adult disorders has been the topic of special sections of journals over the past 10 years. Several compendia of treatments

have been presented in book format, including edited volumes by Barlow (1993) and Mavissakalian & Prien (1996) and Roth & Fonagy's (1996) book. The latter book was commissioned by England's Department of Health in response to the growing influence of the evidence-based medicine movement. A special section of the *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* (February 1998) included 13 articles on empirically supported therapies. Several of these articles focused on therapies for specific disorders and are reviewed below. Our review summarizes evidence for efficacy, effectiveness, and efficiency of treatments for the variety of psychological disorders.

Depression

Knowledge about the most effective way to treat depression is advancing (see reviews by Dobson 1989, Docherty & Streeter 1993, Hollon et al 1993, Robinson et al 1990). This knowledge is aided by increasingly sophisticated statistical analyses, including growth curve and random regression modeling (e.g. Gibbons et al 1993). Also relatively new are the studies of the process of outcome or the shape of change of outcome in treatments of depression (e.g. Barkham et al 1996a,b).

COGNITIVE THERAPY Cognitive therapy (CT) focuses on altering the maladaptive, depression-causing thoughts, beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors of patients. CT is the most widely studied psychotherapy for depression, and its efficacy has been established by a number of research programs (e.g. DeRubeis et al 1990, Whisman et al 1991). There is also evidence that CT offers relapse prevention benefits not found with pharmacotherapy (e.g. Evans et al 1992), which would be predicted by the hypothesized mechanism of change (i.e. that patients change long-standing maladaptive attitudes and perceptions).

Uncertainty remains about the mechanism of effect of CT and about its relative effectiveness when compared with other treatments; however, and more specifically, conclusions (beyond "it works well") are still being pursued (cf De-Rubeis & Crits-Christoph 1998). Jacobson and colleagues (1996) conducted a component analysis of CT, comparing behavioral activation (BA) alone, BA and cognitive restructuring to modify automatic thoughts, and the complete CT treatment package. They found that BA and BA plus cognitive restructuring were as effective as CT. It is also uncertain whether CT is more effective than other psychotherapies. For example, the TDCRP research team (i.e. Elkin et al 1989) found that interpersonal therapy (IPT) was equally effective, and the Sheffield group reported that psychodynamic-interpersonal therapy (IP) was generally as effective (e.g. Barkham et al 1996a, Shapiro et al 1994a).

OTHER THERAPIES Researchers have also evaluated a variety of alternative psychotherapies and modes of treatment. IPT (Shapiro et al 1994) has been investigated, although not as extensively as CT. IPT emphasizes interpersonal

problems as the root of depressive disorders; treatment focuses on improving the interpersonal deficits. In large-scale, controlled, experimentally rigorous studies, IPT has been found to be as efficacious as other treatments, including CT (e.g. Barkham 1996a, Elkin et al 1989).

Behavior therapy for depression emphasizes behavioral activation and increasing pleasant event experiences (e.g. Lewinsohn et al 1980). Although it has received relatively little attention as a stand-alone intervention, behavior therapy is a major emphasis of the cognitive-behavioral treatment program used in the TDCRP and numerous other studies. As a singular treatment, however, there is evidence of its efficacy. As noted above, in their component analysis of CBT, Jacobson et al (1996) found that behavior therapy was as effective as CT in alleviating depression.

PREDICTING RESPONSIVENESS TO TREATMENT Studies examining predictors of treatment response or failure have proliferated, as have prospective studies examining the matching of patients to treatments (e.g. Beach & O'Leary 1992, Beutler et al 1991). Researchers have attempted to delineate the relevant aspects of effective therapy for depression. Burns & Nolen-Hoeksema (1991, 1992) found that while patient motivation and compliance with the requirements of CT are predictive of success, the quality of the therapeutic relationship is also predictive. Castonguay and colleagues (1996) found that improvement was predicted by level of therapeutic alliance and the patient's emotional involvement, but not by process variables unique to CT. Blatt and colleagues (1995, 1996) reanalyzed the TDCRP data set to investigate potential predictors of patient responsiveness to treatment. They found that patients' pretreatment level of perfectionism was negatively correlated with clinical improvement and that perfectionism interacted with the quality of the therapeutic alliance. Mohr and colleagues (1990) examined the relationship between pretherapy patient variables (interpersonal problems and level of distress) and outcome, defined as either negative change, no change (nonresponse), or positive change. While negative change was predicted by high levels of interpersonal difficulty and low levels of distress, nonresponders displayed moderate levels of both, and positive responders displayed high levels of both.

LIMITATION The primary limitation of concluding that CT and other therapies for depression have clinical utility is the lack of evidence that these treatments—with proven clinical trial efficacy—are effective in actual clinical settings (see also Hollon et al 1993).

Anxiety Disorders

EFFICACY Efforts to identify efficacious treatments have achieved greater success for anxiety disorders than for any other major class of diagnosis (cf Roth & Fonagy 1996). In a review of psychosocial treatments for the variety of

anxiety disorders, Barlow & Lehman (1996) declared, "Evidence now exists on the effectiveness (i.e. efficacy) of psychosocial treatment approaches for every anxiety disorder when compared with no treatment or credible psychosocial placebos" (p. 727). DeRubeis & Crits-Christoph (1998) provided a similar review of anxiety disorder treatments. They classified the well-specified treatments for 10 disorders, including 6 anxiety disorders, into 3 categories of empirical support for treatment efficacy: (*a*) efficacious and specific, (*b*) efficacious, and (*c*) possibly efficacious.

For panic disorder, CT and panic control therapy (PCT) have been shown to be efficacious and specific (cf Arntz & van den Hout 1996, Beck et al 1994, Clark et al 1994). Two other treatments, exposure (Williams & Falbo 1996) and applied relaxation (Barlow et al 1989, Ost 1988), are supported by evidence indicating that they are efficacious with panic patients. Barlow & Lehman (1996) note that 80% of patients who receive CT or PCT are panic free at the end of treatment. In September 1991, the National Institute of Mental Health convened a panel of experts who reviewed the treatment outcome literature comparing CBT, other psychosocial treatments, drug treatments, and control conditions; they concluded that CBT is an effective treatment for panic disorder (Wolfe & Maser 1994).

For agoraphobia, only exposure therapy has been shown to be efficacious and specific; unfortunately, only a few efficacy studies have been recently reported for this disorder (cf DeRubeis & Crits-Christoph 1998). For generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), one efficacious and specific treatment has been identified, CT. A review (Chambless & Gillis 1993) of CT for GAD included nine studies. Two more recent studies (Barlow et al 1992, Durham et al 1994) supported the summary conclusion that CT is superior to wait-list control conditions and to other more active treatments such as pill placebos and nondirective therapy. One treatment, applied relaxation (Borkovec & Costello 1993), has been shown to be efficacious with GAD. This is a difficult disorder and these findings represent considerable progress in recent years.

Epidemiological studies indicate that social phobia is the most prevalent diagnosable disorder. Two treatments have been shown to be efficacious for social phobia, exposure alone (Turner et al 1994) and exposure plus cognitive restructuring (Feske & Chambless 1995, Heimberg et al 1995). Barlow & Lehman (1996) note that there is a developing consensus that a combination of exposure to social situations and cognitive therapy may be the most powerful treatment for social phobia.

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)—a difficult-to-treat disorder with very low spontaneous remission rates—has one efficacious and specific treatment, exposure plus response prevention (ERP; Fals-Stewert et al 1993, Foa et al 1992). Cognitive therapy (Emmelkamp & Beens 1991, Van Oppen et al 1995) is the only possibly efficacious treatment for OCD.

For post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), only exposure (Foa et al 1991) has been shown to be efficacious. Two other treatments, stress inoculation therapy (Foa et al 1991) and eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR; Wilson et al 1995) have been shown to be better than wait-list control groups in the treatment of patients who have experienced trauma. Inclusion of EMDR in a list of possibly efficacious treatments has been controversial (see Renfry & Spates 1994).

EFFECTIVENESS AND EFFICIENCY Despite the impressive evidence for the efficacy of treatments for anxiety disorders, there is very little evidence for their effectiveness in real clinical settings. Furthermore, little is known about the efficiency of treating anxiety disorders (see Gould et al 1995 for a review of the cost-efficiency of treating panic disorders).

Eating Disorders

The eating disorders include bulimia nervosa (BN), anorexia nervosa (AN), and binge-eating disorder (BED), a newly-proposed DSM category. They are characterized by severely impaired cognitions centered on weight and severely maladaptive eating behavior. As a consequence, most of the research involving these disorders has focused on cognitive and behavioral interventions, which have recently been examined in a number of large-scale, controlled studies (e.g. Fairburn et al 1991, 1993, 1995).

BULIMIA NERVOSA Most of the psychotherapy research on eating disorders has been conducted on BN. Originally thought to be resistant to treatment (Russell 1979), research indicates that BN does respond to psychotherapy (Garfinkel & Goldbloom 1993, Hartman et al 1992). The most widely researched treatment is cognitive behavior therapy (CBT), which has repeatedly proven superior to other therapy modalities (e.g. Fairburn et al 1989, 1991, 1993) and has emerged as the treatment of choice (cf Walsh et al 1997).

Other treatments for BN have been less researched but have demonstrated promise for being effective. Similar to findings in the depression literature, interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT) has been shown to be as effective as CBT. Fairburn and colleagues (1991, 1993) compared CBT with IPT, which focuses on the interpersonal problems surrounding bulimic behavior. At the end of treatment, CBT was clearly superior, but the treatments were equally effective over the course of long-term follow-up.

ANOREXIA NERVOSA AND BINGE EATING DISORDER Anorexia nervosa is usually treated on an inpatient basis because of the medical necessity of restoring healthy weight (Beumont et al 1993). However, with recent restrictions on length of inpatient care (Baran et al 1995), the small pool of outpatient care research (e.g. Gowers et al 1994) needs to be expanded.

BED might be considered a sub-category of BN, wherein the patient engages in excessive, seemingly uncontrolled eating but not in the purging behaviors. Research suggests that both CBT and IPT are effective treatments of BED (Smith et al 1992, Wilfley et al 1993).

Substance Abuse

A previous *Annual Review of Psychology* chapter on individual psychotherapy (Goldfried et al 1990) did not include a section on treatment of substance use disorders, perhaps because the field was dominated by uncontrolled comparisons of poorly specified treatments (Floyd et al 1996). We review the increasing number of studies that have used stringent experimental design procedures.

PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS FOR SUBSTANCE ABUSE DISORDERS There is considerable evidence that alcohol-abusing patients who undergo treatment drink less frequently and consume less when they do drink. Inpatient treatment does not appear to be superior to outpatient treatment (e.g. McKay & Maisto 1993), although length of treatment is positively associated with better outcomes (Moos et al 1990). The treatments that have been most systematically investigated are twelve-step-based counseling, psychodynamic therapy, and CBT. Holder et al (1991) reviewed the extant studies and concluded that CBT was slightly more efficacious, but other studies suggest an equivalency of treatments (e.g. Cooney et al 1991). Similarly, in a recent large-scale study, both supportive-expressive psychodynamic psychotherapy and CT were found to be efficacious with opiate dependence (Woody et al 1990, 1995).

TREATMENT MATCHING STUDIES The alcohol and drug use literature is growing rapidly with studies examining the effects of trying to match patient characteristics to the most efficacious treatment. Mattson et al (1994) reviewed 30 experimental studies and found evidence supporting this practice.

A larger-scale matching study (Project MATCH 1997) was recently completed and is generating numerous reports. This study was a clinical trial wherein two groups of patients (one receiving outpatient therapy and the other receiving care after either inpatient or day treatment) were randomly assigned to one of three individualized treatments lasting l2 weeks: cognitive behavioral coping skills treatment (CBCST), motivational enhancement therapy, or twelve-step facilitation therapy (TSF). Significant and sustained improvements in drinking outcomes were observed for all three groups. Only one pretreatment patient attribute, psychiatric severity, interacted with treatment, as clients low in severity did better in TSF than CBCST; high-severity clients did equally well in all treatments.

Personality Disorders

The use of psychotherapy to treat personality disorders is largely in the discovery phase of research, with a few exceptions. To be sure, theoretical approaches to treatment have been presented from cognitive (Beck & Freeman 1990), interpersonal (Benjamin 1993), psychodynamic (Clarkin et al 1992), and behavioral (Linehan 1993) perspectives. One of these treatments, dialectical behavior therapy for borderline personality disorder (Linehan et al 1991), has met the criteria for a probably efficacious therapy. Other outcome studies of psychotherapy with personality-disordered patients have been reported (e.g. Hull et al 1993, Stevenson & Meares 1992). However, the greatest attention has been directed to the assessment of personality as part of psychological therapies (e.g. Pilkonis 1997, Shea 1997), the identification of interpersonal and intrapersonal styles as risk factors or vulnerabilities receiving attention in psychotherapy (cf Ouimette et al 1994), and the influence of personality disorders as comorbid conditions that influence treatment outcomes (e.g. Shea et al 1990).

Serious Mental Illness

The term "serious mental illness" has developed favor as a rubric to include disorders such as the schizophrenias, schizo-affective disorders, and bipolar disorders that formerly were termed chronic mental illnesses (Coursey et al 1997). Psychological therapies have more typically been offered as adjuncts to the psychopharmacological management of primary symptoms in these disorders. Many if not most of the psychotherapies involve modalities other than individual psychotherapy, such as couples, group, or family interventions (Bedell et al 1997). Although the results of psychodynamic psychotherapy continue to be reported, this treatment has generally been found to be ineffective with persons having serious mental illness (Scott & Dixon 1995). Supportive therapies that strengthen the therapeutic alliance, educate, strengthen adaptive defenses, and offer praise for successes have fared better (Rockland 1993). Social skills training (Benton & Schroeder 1990) is the only treatment that meets the efficacy criteria used by the empirically supported therapy advocates; it has been judged to be probably efficacious for the treatment of persons with schizophrenia (DeRubeis & Crits-Christoph 1998).

CLOSING COMMENTS

We now know that psychotherapy is generally effective but we are uncertain as to why. Researchers are currently trying to validate psychotherapy's specific

effectiveness and hypothesized operations for change; at the same time, the search for an acceptable guiding theory continues.

The traditional view that the different psychotherapies—similar to medication treatments—contain unique active ingredients resulting in specific effects has not been validated. The nature of the relationship between psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy continues to be uncertain. The most frequently practiced and most rapidly growing brand of treatment, eclectic therapy, is still poorly defined as well as inadequately researched; yet, this movement in clinical practice may be the phenomenon that best defines psychotherapy's maturation process.

Although the aforementioned situations are evidence of a profession in turmoil, there is the possibility for a positive transition here. New research designs are emerging that can uncover needed knowledge, and established ones (RCT) are becoming more sophisticated in their application. The order of events described in this review (from unexpected findings to critical debate to new methodologies) has led in some cases to paradigm shifts. It is premature to declare that a paradigm shift is beginning to take place because presently there is little clue as to its form. However, some have implied that psychotherapy may be in a "pre-paradigm-shift phase" (Bergin & Garfield 1994b). The picture should become clearer as researchers apply the newer methodologies to psychotherapy as practiced in actual clinical settings.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We are grateful to Wolfgang Lutz for his helpful and insightful comments.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.AnnualReviews.org.

Literature Cited

- Agency Health Care Policy Res. Depression Guideline Panel. 1993. Depression in Primary Care, Vol. 2. Treatment of Major Depression (Clin. Pract. Guideline No. 5, AHCPR Publ. No. 93-0551). Rockville, MD: US DHHS, US Public Health Serv., Agency Health Care Policy Res.
- Am. Psychiatric Assoc. 1993. Practice guidelines for the treatment of major depressive disorder in adults. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 150: 1–26
- Am. Psychiatric Assoc. 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.

Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 4th ed.

- Am. Psychol. Assoc. Task Force Promotion Dissemination Psychol. Procedures, Div. Clin. Psychol. 1995. Training in and dissemination of empirically-validated psychological treatments: report and recommendations. Clin. Psychol. 48:3–23
- Arntz A, van den Hout MA. 1996. Psychological treatment of panic disorder without agoraphobia: cognitive therapy versus applied relaxation. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 34: 113–21

- Ballenger JC. 1993. Panic disorder: efficacy of current treatments. *Psychopharm. Bull.* 29:477–86
- Baran SA, Weltzin TE, Kaye WH. 1995. Low discharge weight and outcome in anorexia nervosa. Am. J. Psychiatry 152:1070–72
- Barkham M, Rees A, Shapiro DA, Stiles WB, Agnew RM, et al. 1996a. Outcomes of time-limited psychotherapy in applied settings: replicating the Second Sheffield Psychotherapy Project. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:1079–85
- Barkham M, Rees A, Stiles WB, Shapiro DA, Hardy GE, Reynolds S. 1996b. Doseeffect relations in time-limited psychotherapy for depression. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:927–35
- Barkham M, Stiles WB, Shapiro DA. 1993. The shape of change in psychotherapy: longitudinal assessment of personal problems. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61: 667–77
- Barlow DH, ed. 1993. Clinical Handbook of Psychological Disorders. New York: Gifford. 2nd ed.
- Barlow DH. 1994. Psychological intervention in the area of managed competition. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 1:109–22
- Barlow DH. 1996. The effectiveness of psychotherapy: science and policy. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 3:236–40
- Barlow DH, Lehman CL. 1996. Advances in the pyschosocial treatment of anxiety disorders. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 53:727–35
- Barlow DH, Rapee RM, Brown TA. 1992. Behavioral treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. *Behav. Ther.* 23:551–70
- Barlow DH, Raske MG, Cerny JA, Klosko JS. 1989. Behavioral treatment of panic disorder. *Behav. Ther.* 20:261–82
- Beach S, O'Leary KD. 1992. Treating depression in the context of marital discord: outcome and predictors of response of marital therapy versus cognitive therapy. *Behav. Ther.* 23:507–28
- Beck AT, Freeman AA. 1990. Cognitive Therapy of Personality Disorders. New York: Guilford
- Beck JG, Stanley MA, Baldwin LE, Deagle EA III, Averill PM. 1994. Comparison of cognitive therapy and relaxation training for panic disorder. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:818–26
- Bedell JR, Hunter RH, Corrigan PW. 1997. Current approaches to assessment and treatment of persons with serious mental illness. *Prof. Psychol.* 28:217–28
- Benjamin LS. 1993. Interpersonal Diagnosis and Treatment of Personality Disorders. New York: Guilford

Benton MK, Schroeder HE. 1990. Social skills

training with schizophrenics: a meta-analytic evaluation. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 54:741–47

- Bergin AE, Garfield SL. 1994a. Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change. New York: Wiley. 4th ed.
- Bergin AE, Garfield SL. 1994b. Overview, trends, and future issues. In Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change, ed. AE Bergin, SL Garfield, pp. 821–30. New York: Wiley. 4th ed.
- Beumont PJV, Russell JD, Touyz SW. 1993. Treatment of anorexia nervosa. *Lancet* 341:1635–40
- Beutler LE. 1991. Have all won and must all have prizes: revisiting Luborsky et al.'s verdict. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59: 226–32
- Beutler LE. 1998. Identifying empirically supported treatments: what if we didn't? J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 66:113–20
- Beutler LE, Clarkin J. 1990. Systematic Treatment Selection: Toward Targeted Therapeutic Interventions. New York: Brunner/ Mazel
- Beutler LE, Engle D, Mohr D, Daldrup RJ, Bergan J, et al. 1991. Predictors of differential response to cognitive, experiential, and self-directed psychotherapeutic procedures. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:333–40
- Beutler LE, Kim EJ, Davison E, Karno M, Fisher D. 1996. Research contributions to improving managed health care outcomes. *Psychotherapy* 33:197–206
- Blatt SJ, Quinlan DM, Pilkonis PA, Shea MT. 1995. Impact of perfectionism and need for approval on the brief treatment of depression: the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program revisited. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 63:125–32
- Blatt SJ, Quinlan DM, Zuroff DC, Pilkonis PA. 1996. Interpersonal factors in brief treatment of depression: further analyses of the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:162–71
- Bordin ES. 1994. Theory and research on the therapeutic working alliance: new directions. See Horvath & Greenberg 1994, pp. 13–37
- Borkovec TD, Costello E. 1993. Efficacy of applied relaxation and cognitive behavioral therapy in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61:611–19
- Brock T, Green M, Reich D, Evans L. 1996. The Consumer Reports study of psychotherapy: invalid is invalid. Am. Psychol. 51:1083–84

- Broskowski AT. 1995. The evolution of health care: implications for the training and careers of psychologists. *Prof. Psychol.: Res. Pract.* 26:156–62
- Burns D, Nolen-Hoeksema S. 1992. Therapeutic empathy and recovery from depression in cognitive-behavioral therapy: a structural equation model. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 60:441–49
- Burns DD, Nolen-Hoeksema S. 1991. Coping styles, homework compliance, and the effectiveness of cognitive-behavioral therapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:305–11
- Campbell LF. 1996. The treatment outcome pursuit: a mandate for the clinical and researcher working alliance. *Psychotherapy* 33:190–96
- Castonguay LG, Goldfried MR, Wiser S, Raue PJ, Hayes AM. 1996. Predicting the effect of cognitive therapy for depression: a study of unique and common factors. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:497–504
- Chambless DL. 1996. In defense of dissemination of empirically supported psychological interventions. *Clin. Psychol. Sci. Pract.* 3:230–35
- Chambless DL, Gillis MM. 1993. Cognitive therapy of anxiety disorders. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 66:248–60
- Clark DM, Salkovskis PM, Hackmann A, Middleton H, Anastasiades P, Gelder M. 1994. A comparison of cognitive therapy, applied relaxation and imipramine in the treatment of panic disorder. Br. J. Psychiatry 164:759–69
- Clarkin JF, Koenigsberg H, Yoemans F, Selzer M, Kernberg P, Kernberg OF. 1992. Psychodynamic psychotherapy of the borderline patients. In Borderline Personality Disorder: Clinical and Empirical Perspectives, ed. JF Clarkin, E Marziali, H Munroe-Blum, pp. 268–87. New York: Guilford
- Connors GJ, Carroll KM, DiClemente CC, Longabaugh R, Donovan DM. 1997. The therapeutic alliance and its relationship to alcoholism treatment participation and outcome. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 65: 588–98
- Consumer Reports. 1995. Mental health: does therapy help? Nov.: 734–39
- Cooney NL, Kadden RM, Litt MD, Getter H. 1991. Matching alcoholics to coping skills or interactional therapies: two-year follow-up results. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:598–601
- Coursey RD, Alford J, Safarjan B. 1997. Significant advances in understanding and treating serious mental illness. *Prof. Psychol.* 28:205–16
- Crits-Christoph P. 1996. The dissemination of

efficacious psychological treatments. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 3:260–63

- Crits-Christoph P. 1997. Limitations of the "dodo bird" verdict and the role of clinical trials in psychotherapy research: comment on Wampold et al. (1997). *Psychol. Bull.* 122:216–20
- Crits-Christoph P, Baranackie K, Kurcias JS, Carroll K, Luborsky L, et al. 1991. Metaanalysis of therapist effects in psychotherapy outcome studies. *Psychother. Res.* 1: 81–91
- Crits-Christoph P, Mintz J. 1991. Implications of therapist effects for the design and analysis of comparative studies of psychotherapies. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59: 20–26
- DeRubeis RJ, Crits-Christoph P. 1998. Empirically supported individual and group psychological treatments for adult mental disorders. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 66: 37–52
- DeRubeis RJ, Evans MD, Hollon SD, Garvey MJ, Grove WM, Tuason VB. 1990. How does cognitive therapy work? Cognitive change and symptom change in cognitive therapy and pharmacotherapy for depression. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 58: 862–69
- Dobson KS. 1989. A meta-analysis of the efficacy of cognitive therapy for depression. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 57:414–19
- Docherty JP, Streeter MJ. 1993. Progress and limitations in psychotherapy research: a focus on depression. J. Psychother. Pract. Res. 2:100–18
- Durham RC, Murphy T, Allan T, Richard K, Treliving LR, Fenton GW. 1994. Cognitive therapy, analytic psychotherapy, and anxiety management training for generalized anxiety disorder. Br. J. Psychiatry 165:315–23
- Elkin I, Gibbons RD, Shea TM, Shaw BF. 1996. Science is not a trial (but it can sometimes be a tribulation). J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:92–103
- Elkin I, Shea MT, Watkins JT, Imber SD, Sotsky SM, et al. 1989. NIMH treatment of depression collaborative research program: general effectiveness of treatments. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 46:971–82
- Elliott R, Stiles WB, Shapiro DA. 1993. Are some psychotherapies more equivalent than others? See Giles 1993, pp. 455–79
- Emmelkamp PMG, Beens H. 1991. Cognitive therapy with obsessive-compulsive disorder: a comparative evaluation. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 29:293–300
- Evans MD, Hollon SD, DeRubeis RJ, Piasecki JM, Grove WM, et al. 1992. Deferential relapse following cognitive therapy and

pharmacotherapy for depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 49:802–8

- Eysenck HJ. 1952. The effects of psychotherapy: an evaluation. J. Consult. Psychol. 16:319–24
- Fairburn CG, Jones R, Peveler RC, Carr SJ, Solomon RA, et al. 1991. Three psychological treatments for bulimia nervosa. *Arch. Gen. Psych.* 48:463–69
- Fairburn CG, Jones R, Peveler RC, Hope RA, O'Connor M. 1993. Psychotherapy and bulimia nervosa: longer-term effects of interpersonal psychotherapy, behavior therapy, and cognitive behavior therapy. Arch. Gen. Psych. 50:419–28
- Fairburn CG, Marcus MD, Wilson GT. 1993. Cognitive-behavioral therapy for binge eating and bulimia nervosa: a comprehensive treatment manual. In Cognitive Behaviour Therapy for Psychiatric Problems, ed. K Hawton, PM Salkovskis, J Kirk, DM Clark, pp. 361–404. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Fairburn CG, Norman PA, Welch SL, O'Connor ME, Doll HA, Peveler RC. 1995. A prospective study of outcome in bulimia nervosa and the long-term effects of three psychological treatments. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 52:304–12
- Fals-Stewart W, Marks A, Schafer B. 1993. A comparison of behavioral group therapy and individual behavior therapy in treating obsessive-compulsive disorder. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 181:189–93
- Fensterheim H, Raw SD. 1996. Psychotherapy research is not psychotherapy practice. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 4:168–71
- Feske U, Chambless DL. 1995. Cognitive behavioral versus exposure only treatment for social phobia: a meta-analysis. *Behav. Ther.* 26:695–720
- Floyd AS, Monahan SC, Finney JW, Morley JA. 1996. Alcoholism treatment outcome studies, 1980-1992: the nature of the research. Addict. Behav. 21:413–28
- Foa EB, Kozak MJ, Steketee GS, McCarty PR. 1992. Treatment of depressive and obsessive-compulsive symptoms in OCD by imipramine and behavior therapy. Br. J. Psychiatry 31:279–92
- Foa EB, Rothbaum BO, Riggs DS, Murdock TB. 1991. Treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder in rape victims: a comparison between cognitive-behavioral procedures and counseling. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:715–23
- Frank JD, Frank JB. 1991. Persuasion and Healing: A Comparative Study of Psychotherapy. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press
- Garfield SL. 1991. Common and specific fac-

tors in psychotherapy. J. Integr. Eclect. Psychother. 10:5–13

- Garfield SL. 1996. Some problems associated with "validated" forms of psychotherapy. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 3:218–29
- Garfinkel PE, Goldbloom DS. 1993. Bulimia nervosa: a review of therapy research. J. Psychother. Pract. Res. 2:38–50
- Gaw KF, Beutler LE. 1995. Integrating treatment recommendations. In *Integrative As*sessment of Adult Personality, ed. LE Beutler, M Berren, pp. 280–319. New York: Guilford
- Gibbons RD, Hedeker D, Elkin I, Waternaux C, Kraemer HC, et al. 1993. Some conceptual and statistical issues in the analysis of longitudinal psychiatric data: application to the NIMH TDCRP dataset. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 50:739–50
- Giles TR, ed. 1993. *Handbook of Effective Psychotherapy*. New York: Plenum
- Goldfried MR, Greenberg LS, Marmar C. 1990. Individual psychotherapy: process and outcome. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 41: 659–88
- Goldfried MR, Wolfe BE. 1996. Psychotherapy practice and research: repairing a strained alliance. Am. Psychol. 51: 1007–16
- Goldfried MR, Wolfe BE. 1998. Toward a more clinically valid approach to therapy research. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 66: 143–50
- Gorman JM. 1994. New and experimental pharmacological treatments for panic disorder. See Wolfe & Maser 1994, pp. 83–90
- Gould RA, Otto MW, Pollack MH. 1995. A meta-analysis of treatment outcome for panic disorder. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 15: 819–44
- Gowers S, Norton K, Halek C, Crisp AH. 1994. Outcome of outpatient psychotherapy in a random allocation treatment study of anorexia nervosa. *Int. J. Eating Disord.* 15:165–77
- Greenberg LS, Newman FL. 1996. An approach to psychotherapy change process research: introduction to the special section. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:435–38
- Grissom RJ. 1996. The magical number .7 plus or minus .2: meta-analysis of the probability of superior outcome in comparisons involving therapy, placebo, and control. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:973–82
- Hartmann A, Herzog T, Drinkmann A. 1992. Psychotherapy of bulimia nervosa: what is effective? A meta analysis. J. Psychosom. 36:159–67
- Heimberg RG, Liebowitz MR, Hope DA, Schneier FR, eds. 1995. Social Phobia:

Diagnosis, Assessment, and Treatment. New York: Guilford

- Holder HD, Longabaugh R, Miller WR, Rubonis AV. 1991. The cost effectiveness of treatment for alcohol problems: a first approximation. J. Stud. Alcohol 52:517–40
- Hollon S. 1996. The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy relative to medications. *Am. Psychol.* 51:1025–30
- Hollon SD, Shelton RC, Davis DD. 1993. Cognitive therapy for depression: conceptual issues and clinical efficacy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61:270–75
- Horvath AO. 1994. Empirical validation of Bordin's pantheoretical model of the alliance: the Working Alliance Inventory perspective. See Horvath & Greenberg 1994, pp. 109–28
- Horvath AO, Greenberg LS, eds. 1994. The Working Alliance: Theory, Research, and Practice. New York: Wiley & Sons
- Horvath AO, Symonds BD. 1991. Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: a meta-analysis. J. Couns. Psychol. 38:139–49
- Howard KI, Kopta SM, Krause MS, Orlinsky DE. 1986. The dose-effect relationship in psychotherapy. Am. Psychol. 41:159–64
- Howard KI, Krause MS, Saunders SM, Kopta SM. 1997. Trials and tribulations in the meta-analysis of treatment differences: comment on Wampold et al. (1997). *Psychol. Bull.* 122:221–25
- Howard KI, Lueger RJ, Kolden GG. 1997. Measuring progress and outcome in the treatment of affective disorders. See Strupp et al 1997, pp. 263–82
- Howard KI, Lueger RJ, Maling MS, Martinovich Z. 1993. A phase model of psychotherapy: causal mediation of outcome. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61:678–85
- Howard KI, Moras K, Brill PL, Martinovich Z, Lutz W. 1996. Evaluation of psychotherapy: efficacy, effectiveness, and patient progress. Am. Psychol. 51:1059–64
- Howard KI, Orlinsky DE, Lueger RJ. 1995. The design of clinically relevant outcome research: some considerations and an example. In *Research Foundations for Psychotherapy Practice*, ed. M Aveline, DA Shapiro, pp. 3–47. Sussex, UK: Wiley
- Hull JŴ, Clarkin JF, Kakuma T. 1993. Treatment response of borderline inpatients: a growth curve analysis. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 181:503–8
- Jacobson N, Christensen A. 1996. Studying the effectiveness of psychotherapy: how well can clinical trials do the job? *Am. Psychol.* 51:1031–39
- Jacobson NE, Hollon SD. 1996. Cognitivebehavior therapy versus pharmacother-

apy: now that the jury has returned its verdict, it's time to present the rest of the evidence. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64: 74–80

- Jacobson NS, Dobson KS, Truax PA, Addis ME, Koerner K, et al. 1996. A component analysis of cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:295–304
- Jacobson NS, Follette WC, Revenstorf D. 1984. Psychotherapy outcome research: methods for reporting variability and evaluating clinical significance. *Behav. Ther.* 15:336–52
- Kadera SW, Lambert MJ, Andrews AA. 1996. How much therapy is really enough? A session-by-session analysis of the psychotherapy dose-effect relationship. J.Psychother. Pract. Res. 5:132–51
- Kazdin AE. 1996. Validated treatments: multiple perspectives and issues—introduction to the series. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 3:216–17
- Klein DF. 1996. Preventing hung juries about therapy studies. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:81–87
- Klosko JS, Barlow DH, Tassinari R, Cerny JA. 1990. A comparison of alprazolam and behavior therapy in treatment of panic disorder. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 58:77–84
- Kopta SM, Howard KI, Lowry JL, Beutler LE. 1994. Patterns of symptomatic recovery in psychotherapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:1009–16
- Krupnick JL, Sotsky SM, Simmens S, Moyer J, Elkin I, et al. 1996. The role of the therapeutic alliance in psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy outcome: findings in the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:532–39
- Lambert MJ. 1992. Psychotherapy outcome research: implications for integrative and eclectic therapies. See Norcross & Goldfried 1992, pp. 94–129
- Lambert MJ, Bergin AE. 1994a. The effectiveness of psychotherapy. See Bergin & Garfield 1994a, pp. 143–89
- Lambert MJ, Hill CE. 1994. Assessing psychotherapy outcomes and processes. See Bergin & Garfield 1994a, pp. 72–113
- Lewinsohn PM, Sullivan JM, Grosscup SJ. 1980. Changing reinforcing events: an approach to the treatment of depression. *Psychother. Theory Res. Pract.* 17:322–34
- Linehan MM. 1993. Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment of Borderline Personality Disorder. New York: Guilford
- Linehan MM, Armstrong HE, Suarez A, Allmon D, Heard HL. 1991. Cognitivebehavioral treatment of chronically para-

suicidal borderline patients. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 48:1060–64

- Lipsey MW, Wilson DB. 1993. The efficacy of psychological, educational, and behavioral treatment: confirmation from metaanalysis. Am. Psychol. 48:1181–1209
- Luborsky L. 1994. Therapeutic alliances as predictors of psychotherapy outcomes: factors explaining the predictive success. See Horvath & Greenberg 1994, pp. 38–50
- Luborsky L, Singer B, Luborsky L. 1975. Comparative studies of psychotherapy. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 32:995–1008
- Mattson ME, Allen JP, Longabaugh R, Nickless CJ, Connors G, et al. 1994. A chronological review of empirical studies matching alcoholic clients to treatment. J. Stud. Alcohol 55:16–29
- Mavissakalian M, Prien R, eds. 1996. Long-Term Treatments of Anxiety Disorders. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Assoc.
- McKay JR, Maisto SA. 1993. An overview and critique of advances in the treatment of alcohol use disorders. *Drugs Soc.* 8: 1–29
- McNeilly CL, Howard KI. 1991. The effects of psychotherapy: a reevaluation based on dosage. *Psychother. Res.* 1:74–78
- Mintz J, Drake R, Crits-Christoph P. 1996. The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy: two paradigms, one science. Am. Psychol. 51:1084–85
- Mohr DC, Beutler LE, Engle D, Shoham-Soloman V, Bergan J, et al. 1990. Identification of patients at risk for nonresponse and negative outcome in psychotherapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 58:622–28
- Moos RH, Finney JW, Cronkite RC. 1990. Alcoholism Treatment: Context, Process, and Outcome. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Morrow-Bradley C, Elliott R. 1986. The utilization of psychotherapy research by practicing psychotherapists. Am. Psychol. 41: 188–97
- Muran JC, Segal ZV, Wallner Samstag L, Crawford CE. 1994. Patient pretreatment interpersonal problems and therapeutic alliance in short-term cognitive therapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:185–90
- Nathan PE. 1996. Validated forms of psychotherapy may lead to better-validated psychotherapy. *Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract.* 3: 251–55
- Nathan PE. 1998. Practice guidelines: not yet ideal. *Am. Psychol.* 53:290–99
- Norcross JC. 1997. Emerging breakthroughs in psychotherapy integration: three predictions and one fantasy. *Psychotherapy* 34: 86–90

Norcross JC, ed. 1993. Research directions for

psychotherapy integration: a roundtable. J. Psychother. Integr. 3:91–131

- Norcross JC, Goldfried MR, eds. 1992. Handbook of Psychotherapy Integration. New York: Basic Books
- Orlinsky DE, Grawe K, Parks BK. 1994. Process and outcome in psychotherapy—noch einmal. See Bergin & Garfield 1994a, pp. 270–378
- Ost L. 1988. Applied relaxation vs progressive relaxation in the treatment of panic disorder. *Behav. Ther. Res.* 26:13–22
- Ouimette PC, Klein DN, Anderson R, Riso LP, Lizardi H. 1994. Relationship of sociotropy/autonomy and dependency/self criticism to DSM-III-R personality disorders. Am. J. Psychiatry 149:1645–53
- Patterson CH. 1984. Empathy, warmth, and genuineness in psychotherapy: a review of reviews. *Psychotherapy* 21:431–38
- Paul GL. 1967. Outcome research in psychotherapy. J. Consult. Psychol. 31: 109–18
- Persons JB, Silberschatz G. 1998. Are results of randomized controlled trials useful to psychotherapists? J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 66:126-\35
- Pilkonis PA. 1997. Measurement issues relevant to personality disorders. See Strupp et al 1997, pp. 371–88
- Piper WE, Azim HFA, Joyce AS, McCallum M, Nixon GWH, et al. 1991. Quality of object relations versus interpersonal functioning as predictors of therapeutic alliance and psychotherapy outcome. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 179:432–38
- Project MATCH Research Group. 1997. Matching alcoholism treatments to client heterogeneity: project MATCH posttreatment drinking outcomes. J. Stud. Alcohol 58:7–29
- Renfry G, Spates CR. 1994. Eye movement desensitization: a partial dismantling study. J. Behav. Exp. 25:231–39
- Robinson LA, Berman JS, Neimeyer RA. 1990. Psychotherapy for the treatment of depression: a comprehensive review of controlled outcome research. *Psychol. Bull.* 108:30–49
- Rockland LH. 1993. A review of supportive psychotherapy, 1986-1982. Hosp. Community Psychol. 44:1053–60
- Roth A, Fonagy P. 1996. What Works for Whom? A Critical Review of Psychotherapy. New York: Guilford
- Russell GFM. 1979. Bulimia nervosa: an ominous variant of anorexia nervosa. *Psychol. Med.* 9:429–48
- Russell RL, ed. 1994. *Reassessing Psychotherapy Research*. New York: Guilford
- Scott JE, Dixon LB. 1995. Psychological in-

terventions for schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 21:621–30

- Seligman MEP. 1995. The effectiveness of psychotherapy: the Consumer Reports study. Am. Psychol. 50:965–74
- Seligman MEP. 1996a. Science as an ally of practice. Am. Psychol. 51:1072–79
- Seligman MEP. 1996b. A creditable beginning. Am. Psychol. 51:1086–88
- Shadish WR, Matt GE, Navarro AM, Siegle G, Crits-Christoph P, et al. 1997. Evidence that therapy works in clinically representative conditions. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 65:355–65
- Shapiro DA, Barkham M, Rees A, Hardy GE, Reynolds S, et al. 1994a. Effects of treatment duration and severity of depression on the effectiveness of cognitive-behavioral and psychodynamic-interpersonal psychotherapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:522–34
- Shapiro DA, Harper H, Startup MJ, Reynolds S, Bird D, Suokas A. 1994b. The high watermark of the drug metaphor: a metaanalytic critique of process-outcome research. See Russell 1994, pp. 1–35
- Shea MT. 1997. Core Battery Conference: assessment of change in personality disorders. See Strupp et al 1997, pp. 389– 400
- Shea MT, Pilkonis PA, Beckham E, Collins JF, Elkin I, et al. 1990. Personality disorders and treatment outcome in the NIMH Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. Am. J. Psychiatry 147: 711–18
- Shear MK, Maser JD. 1994. Standardized assessment for panic disorder research: a conference report. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 51: 346–54
- Smith D, Marcus, MD, Kaye W. 1992. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of obese binge-eaters. Int. J. Eating Disord. 12: 257–62
- Smith ML, Glass GV. 1977. Meta-analysis of psychotherapy outcome studies. Am. Psychol. 32:752–60
- Spiegel DA, Bruce BJ. 1997. Benzodiazepines and exposure-based cognitive behavior therapies for panic disorder: conclusions from combined treatment trials. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 154:773–80
- Stevenson J, Meares R. 1992. An outcome study of psychotherapy for patients with borderline personality disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 149:358–62
- Stiles WB. 1996. When more of a good thing is better: reply to Hayes et al. 1996. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:915–18
- Stiles WB, Shapiro DA. 1994. Abuse of the drug metaphor: psychotherapy process-

outcome research. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 9: 521–43

- Stricker G, Gold JR, eds. 1993. Comprehensive Handbook of Psychotherapy Integration. New York: Plenum
- Strupp H. 1996. The tripartite model and the Consumer Reports study. Am. Psychol. 51: 1017–24
- Strupp H. 1997. Research, practice, and managed care. *Psychotherapy* 34:91–94
- Strupp HH, Horowitz LM, Lambert MJ, eds. 1997. Measuring Patient Changes in Mood, Anxiety, and Personality Disorders: Toward a Core Battery. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Tingey RC, Lambert MJ, Burlingame GM, Hansen NB. 1996. Assessing clinical significance: proposed extensions to method. *Psychother. Res.* 6:109–23
- Turner SM, Beidel DC, Jacob RG. 1994. Social phobia: a comparison of behavior therapy and atenolol. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:350–58
- Van Oppen P, De Haan E, Van Balkom AJLM, Spinhoven P, Hoogduin K, Van Dyck R. 1995. Cognitive therapy and exposure in vivo in the treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 33:379–90
- Walsh BT, Wilson GT, Loeb KL, Devlin MJ, Pike KM, et al. 1997. Medication and psychotherapy in the treatment of bulimia nervosa. Am. J. Psychiatry 154:523–31
- Wampold BE. 1997. Methodological problems in identifying efficacious psychotherapies. *Psychother. Res.* 7:21–43
- Wampold BE, Mondin GW, Moody M, Stich F, Benson K, et al. 1997. A meta-analysis of outcome studies comparing bona fide psychotherapies: empirically "all must have prizes." *Psychol. Bull.* 203–15
- Whisman MA, Miller IW, Norman WH, Keitner GI. 1991. Cognitive therapy with depressed inpatients: specific effects on dysfunctional cognitions. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:282–88
- Wilfley DE, Agras WS, Telch CF, Rossiter EM, Schneider JA, et al. 1993. Group cognitive-behavioral therapy and group interpersonal psychotherapy for the nonpurging bulimic individual: a controlled comparison. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61: 296–305
- Williams SL, Falbo J. 1996. Cognitive and performance-based treatments for panic attack in people with varying degrees of agoraphobic disability. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 34:253–64
- Wilson GT. 1996. Empirically validated treatments: reality and resistance. *Clin. Psychol. Sci. Pract.* 3:241–44

- Wilson SA, Becker LA, Tinker RH. 1995. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) treatment for psychologically traumatized individuals. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 63:928–37
- Wolfe BE, Maser JD, eds. 1994. Treatment of Panic Disorder: A Consensus Development Conference. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Assoc.
- Woody GE, Luborsky L, McLellan AT, O'Brien CP. 1990. Corrections and revised analyses for psychotherapy in methadone maintenance programs. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 47:788–89
- maintenance programs. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 47:788–89
 Woody GE, McLellan AT, Luborsky L, O'Brien CP. 1995. Psychotherapy in community methadone programs: a validation study. Am. J. Psychiatry 192:1302–8

Copyright of Annual Review of Psychology is the property of Annual Reviews Inc. and its content may not be copied or emailed to multiple sites or posted to a listserv without the copyright holder's express written permission. However, users may print, download, or email articles for individual use.